# **WORKING PAPER**

# **INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY AND** LABOUR PRODUCTIVITY GROWTH: AN EMPIRICAL ANALYSIS FOR **CANADA AND THE UNITED STATES**

Working Paper Number 20 March 1998



# **WORKING PAPER**

# INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY AND LABOUR PRODUCTIVITY GROWTH: AN EMPIRICAL ANALYSIS FOR CANADA AND THE UNITED STATES

by Surendra Gera, Wulong Gu and Frank C. Lee, Industry Canada

Working Paper Number 20 March 1998

Aussi disponible en français

### **Canadian Cataloguing in Publication Data**

Gera, Surendra

Information Technology and Labour Productivity Growth:

An Empirical Analysis for Canada and the United States.

(Working Paper; no. 20)

Text in English and French on inverted pages.

Title on added t.p.: Technologie de l'information et croissance de la productivité du travail.

Includes bibliographical references.

ISBN 0-662-63436-5

Cat. No. C21-24/20-1998

- 1. Information technology Labor productivity Canada.
- 2. Information technology Labor productivity United States.
- 3. Technology transfer Canada.
- 4. Technology transfer United States.
- I. Gu, Wulong, 1964-
- II. Lee, Frank C. (Frank Chung)
- III. Canada. Industry Canada.
- IV. Title
- V. Series: Working Paper (Canada. Industry Canada).

HC79.I55S87 1998

338.06'0971

C98-980072-5E

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

We would like to thank Jeffrey Bernstein, Helen'a Borges, Denis Gauthier, Zhengxi Lin, Pierre Mohnen, Serge Nadeau, Keith Newton, Larry Rosenblum, two anonymous referees and seminar participants at Industry Canada, at the Centre for the Study of Living Standards pre-conference workshop and at the CSLS's "Service Sector Productivity and the Productivity Paradox" conference for many helpful and stimulating comments. Any remaining errors and omissions are entirely our own.

The views expressed in this Working Paper do not necessarily reflect those of Industry Canada or of the federal government.

The list of titles available in the Research Publications Program and details on how to obtain copies can be found at the end of this document. Abstracts of Industry Canada research volumes, working papers, occasional papers, discussion papers and the full text of our quarterly newsletter, *MICRO*, can be accessed via STRATEGIS, the Department's online business information site, at http://strategis.ic.gc.ca.

Comments should be addressed to:

Someshwar Rao, Director Strategic Investment Analysis Micro-Economic Policy Analysis Industry Canada 5th Floor, West Tower 235 Queen Street Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0H5

Telephone: (613) 941-8187; Fax: (613) 991-1261; e-mail: rao.someshwar@ic.gc.ca

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	i
1. INTRODUCTION	1
2. LITERATURE REVIEW	3
IT and Productivity	3
Domestic and International R&D Spillovers and Productivity Growth	4
3. EMPIRICAL FRAMEWORK	7
Empirical Model	7
Measurement of R&D Spillovers	8
4. THE DATA AND TRENDS	11
Labour and Productivity Growth	11
IT Investment	
R&D	16
5. REGRESSION ANALYSIS	23
Results for Canada	23
Regression Results for the United States	27
Comments on Results	28
6. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	29
NOTES	31
APPENDIX A: EMPIRICAL MODEL RELATING	
PRODUCTIVITY TO INVESTMENT AND TECHNOLOGY	35
APPENDIX B: DATA SOURCES AND DEFINITIONS	37
BIBLIOGRAPHY	39
INDUSTRY CANADA RESEARCH PUBLICATIONS PROGRAM	43

# **ABSTRACT**

To what extent have investments in information technology (IT) contributed to labour productivity growth? Are domestic and international R&D spillovers from the IT sector important for labour productivity growth? In this paper, we examine these questions for Canada and the United States, using a set of OECD databases. We conclude as follows: First, IT investments are an important source of labour productivity growth across Canadian industries. Second, R&D spillovers in Canada are primarily international in scope. Third, in terms of the impact of international R&D spillovers on productivity growth, those emanating from IT imports are much more important than those from non-IT imports. Finally, IT investments and international R&D spillovers embodied in IT imports have positive and significant impact on labour productivity growth across U.S. industries, but the results are less robust than those for Canada.

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

"If the car had developed at the same pace as microprocessors over the past two decades, a typical car would now cost less than \$5 and do 250,000 miles to the gallon".

The Economist, September 28, 1996

Over the past two decades, the use of information technology (IT)<sup>1</sup> has become more intensive in most industrialized economies, as spending on IT-related goods has increased dramatically. All sectors of the economy are experiencing significant changes in the way goods and services are produced and delivered as a result of the increased diffusion and use of information technologies. In particular, many services such as finance, insurance, and real estate; wholesale and retail trade; and communication and business services have emerged as major users of these technologies. Two inter-related forces have contributed to these developments. First, communications and information processing costs have fallen dramatically – they are now 1/10,000 of what they were just 20 years ago – and this has spurred and deepened globalization. Second, globalization, in turn, has advanced technological change by intensifying competition and expediting the diffusion of technology through international trade and foreign direct investment (FDI).

In a parallel development, overall productivity growth in OECD economies has slowed significantly since the early 1970s. The decline has been especially noticeable in the service sector, which consumes over 80 percent of IT goods. This has raised numerous questions about the implications of IT investments for productivity growth.

On a theoretical front, new growth theory predicts that physical investments should have a greater impact on productivity growth than traditional growth accounting would suggest, due to positive externalities associated with such activities. In the contributions of Romer (1986), and Grossman and Helpman (1991), these externalities arise because of "knowledge spillovers" — increases in physical investments of profit-seeking firms contribute to the general stock of knowledge upon which subsequent firms can build. In De Long and Summers (1991), investment externalities arise as a result of the "learning by doing effect" — workers and managers learn new skills and more efficient methods of production by using newly installed equipment. These models suggest that the IT sector, which has been one of the most technologically dynamic sectors of the economy over the last 20 years, is likely to have a greater impact on productivity growth than other sectors.

Until recently, however, there has been little empirical evidence that IT capital has contributed to increases in output and productivity growth,<sup>2</sup> and this has led to a heated debate about the "productivity paradox" (see, for example, Brynjolfsson, 1992, Meijl, 1995, and the next section of this paper for a review). In this connection, two recent studies carried out on U.S. data deserve specific mention. Berndt and Morrison (1995) examined the impact of investments in high-tech office and information technology capital on productivity growth across two-digit manufacturing industries from 1968 through 1986. They found that increases in high-tech investments are negatively correlated to multi-factor productivity growth and they tend to be labour-using. However,

2 Introduction

they did find some evidence that industries with a higher proportion of high-tech capital had higher measures of economic performance. In contrast, Brynjolfsson and Hitt (1995) argued that IT has become a productive investment for many firms. Using data from a large number of firms over the 1988-92 period, they found that while "firm effects" may account for as much as one-half of the productivity benefits imputed to IT in earlier studies, the elasticity of IT remains positive and statistically significant.

None of these studies took account of domestic and international R&D spillovers from the IT sector when analysing the relationship between IT investment and labour productivity growth.<sup>3</sup> Omitting this variable for a small open economy such as Canada's, which relies a great deal on international trade and FDI, could potentially bias the results. Indeed, Bernstein (1996a, b) confirmed the importance of international spillovers to Canada. His study found that many Canadian industries benefited from R&D carried out in the United States. Some recent studies have also found evidence of domestic and international R&D spillovers from the IT sector (see for example, Bernstein, 1996b; Meijl, 1995, and Sakurai et al., 1996).

In the spirit of these studies, we derive an empirical framework that allows us to estimate the relationship between IT investment and labour productivity growth for Canada and the United States. The framework also takes into account R&D spillovers from IT and non-IT sectors from foreign and domestic sources.

The aim of this paper is twofold:

- to examine the relationship between IT investment and labour productivity growth; and
- to examine the importance for labour productivity growth of domestic and international R&D spillovers embodied in IT goods.

The paper examines these issues using a set of OECD industry databases for Canada and the United States. We find strong support for the proposition that IT investments and international R&D spillovers, particularly those embodied in imports of IT goods, contribute to higher labour productivity growth in Canadian industries. However, the results are generally less robust for the United States.

The paper proceeds with a brief review of earlier literature. In Section 3, we describe the empirical model used in our estimation. Section 4 presents a general overview of the data and general trends. In Section 5, we present regression results for both Canada and the United States. Finally, in the last section, we offer some conclusions and discuss policy issues raised by the analysis.

#### 2. LITERATURE REVIEW

In this section, we provide a brief overview of some of the most recent empirical studies which have focused on the issues that are of interest to this paper. These include the relationship between investments in IT and productivity growth, and the importance of domestic and international R&D spillovers for productivity growth.

# IT and Productivity<sup>4</sup>

Until recently, there has been little evidence at the industry level that IT has contributed to increases in productivity growth. The following studies in particular deserve mention.

Morrison and Berndt (1991) using a series of highly parametric models of production, analyzed two-digit U.S. manufacturing industries over the period 1968-86. They found that the marginal benefits of high-tech capital investments were less than marginal costs, indicating a general over-investment in IT. A subsequent study (Berndt and Morrison, 1995), using many of the same data, took a less structured approach and examined broad correlations of IT with two measures of productivity (labour and multi-factor productivity), as well as other variables. The authors found that there is a statistically significant negative relationship between productivity growth and the IT intensity of the capital stock based on a time-series analysis. However, the authors suggested that the negative relationship may be due to possible measurement problems resulting from failures to account properly for quality changes in output.

In contrast, Siegel and Griliches (1991) found a positive and statistically significant relationship between total factor productivity growth and an industry's rate of investment in computers in the 1980s. However, they did raise concerns about the reliability of the data.

A number of recent empirical studies based on firm-level data have also confirmed a positive and statistically significant relationship between IT and productivity. Brynjolfsson and Hitt (1995) used a data set of the 300 largest firms in the U.S. economy over the time period 1988-92 and introduced three novel features in their estimation methodology: (1) it controlled for individual firms' differences in productivity by employing a "firm effects" specification; (2) it used the less restrictive translog production function instead of only the Cobb-Douglas specification; and (3) it allowed all parameters to vary between various sub-sectors of the economy. The study found that the elasticity of IT remains positive and statistically significant. Furthermore, "firm effects" were found to be highly significant. The authors suggested that these effects may account for as much as half of the productivity benefits imputed to IT in the earlier studies. Lichtenberg (1993) obtained similar results using the same data as well as some additional data sets. In fact, the study found that the marginal product of IT was at least six times as great as the marginal product of other types of capital.

4 Literature Review

In contrast, Loveman (1994) estimated a Cobb-Douglas production function using a data set which covered 60 business units of large firms from 1978-84 and found no evidence of strong productivity gains from IT investments.

To summarize, the findings of empirical studies on IT and productivity carried out on the industry-level data appear to be somewhat mixed. However, improved firm-level studies such as Brynjolfsson and Hitt (1995) suggest a positive relationship between IT and productivity growth in the United States.

# Domestic and International R&D Spillovers and Productivity Growth<sup>6</sup>

The empirical literature on domestic and international R&D spillovers is voluminous, reflecting the important role played by this factor in economic growth. Rather than review a large number of studies, our objective is to concentrate on very recent studies, in particular those focusing on domestic and international spillovers, which are most relevant to our study.

Coe, Helpman and Hoffmaister (1997) examined the relative strength of R&D spillovers from industrial countries in the North to developing countries in the South. The data cover observations over the 1971-90 period for 77 developing countries and 22 industrial countries. The paper builds on the thesis that international trade with an industrial country plays an important role as a transmission channel for R&D spillovers to the less developed countries. The authors found that R&D spillovers from the North to the South are significant and substantial. For example, an addition of 100 U.S. dollars to either the U.S. or Japanese domestic R&D capital stock raises total GDP in the developing countries, as a group, by almost 25 dollars.

Earlier, Coe and Helpman (1995) had also measured international R&D spillovers using country-level data. This study estimated the effects of a country's own R&D capital and its imported R&D capital on total factor productivity. The study found evidence of strong and significant international R&D spillovers. It also found that the output elasticity of international R&D spillovers is virtually identical to that of domestic R&D. Furthermore, it found that the impact of foreign R&D increased over time and was greater in smaller countries.

A recent study (Branstetter, 1996) has highlighted important shortcomings in these studies in their estimation of the effects of domestic and international R&D spillovers. This study provides estimates of the impact of intranational and international R&D spillovers on innovation and productivity at the firm level, using previously unexploited panel data in five R&D-intensive sectors in the United States and Japan. The study finds robust evidence that intranational spillovers are stronger than international spillovers. A major feature of the study is that it measures R&D spillovers by identifying the technological closeness of firms as suggested in earlier studies by Griliches (1979) and Jaffe (1986). Technological closeness of firms is essentially a measure of similarity in the distribution of firms' research efforts across various technological fields. In general, a firm will receive more R&D spillovers from other firms with research programs similar to its own.<sup>7</sup>

Literature Review 5

Until recently, very few studies have assessed the effect of international R&D spillovers from the IT sector on productivity growth. Building on the methodology of Coe and Helpman (1995), a recent OECD study (Sakurai *et al.*, 1996) examined the relationship between R&D, technology diffusion, and productivity growth for ten OECD countries. The study found that the IT cluster of industries played a major role in the generation and acquisition of new technologies. In particular, the IT service sector in Canada and small European economies has posted higher gains from international R&D spillovers than from domestic ones, while domestic R&D was more important in the United States, Japan and Germany.

In addition, Meijl and Soete (1995) and Meijl (1995) examined the diffusion of technology through the purchase of IT goods in French industries over the 1978-92 period. The studies found that IT-related spillovers were important for productivity growth and that the measured influence increased rapidly over time.

Finally, Bernstein (1996) estimated the contribution of R&D spillovers from the Canadian communications equipment industry and the U.S. manufacturing sector to productivity growth in the Canadian manufacturing sector over the 1966-91 period. The study found: 1) the R&D spillovers from the communications equipment industry have contributed significantly to productivity growth in the manufacturing sector – about 8.5 percent of the average annual rate of productivity growth in manufacturing resulted from spillovers from the communications equipment industry; 2) this contribution increased during the post-1973 period when the productivity slowdown occurred; 3) the R&D spillovers from the U.S. manufacturing sector were the major contributor in this regard - accounting for 76 percent of the average annual rate of productivity growth in Canadian manufacturing; and 4) the social rate of return pertaining to Canadian communications equipment R&D capital is estimated at 55 percent.

#### 3. EMPIRICAL FRAMEWORK

In this section, we first present the empirical model used to estimate the effect of IT investments and R&D embodied in IT goods on labour productivity growth across Canadian and U.S. industries. Later, we discuss the methodology used to construct R&D spillover variables.

# **Empirical Model**

We assume that the production process is modeled by a Cobb-Douglas production function that distinguishes between own R&D and R&D embodied in purchases of domestic and imported goods and services. Specifically, the output of industry i ( $Y_i$ ) is related to labour input ( $L_i$ ), IT capital ( $K_{1i}$ ), non-IT capital ( $K_{2i}$ ), own R&D capital ( $K_{2i}$ ), R&D capital embodied in purchases of domestic goods and services ( $K_{2i}$ ), and R&D capital embodied in imports ( $K_{2i}$ ):

(1) 
$$Y_{i} = L_{i}^{\alpha_{1}} K_{1i}^{\alpha_{2}} K_{2i}^{\alpha_{3}} R_{i}^{\alpha_{4}} S_{di}^{\alpha_{5}} S_{fi}^{\alpha_{6}} e^{\alpha_{0} t},$$

where  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2$  and  $\alpha_3$  are the output elasticities of labour input, IT capital and non-IT capital, respectively;  $\alpha_1, \alpha_3$  and  $\alpha_6$  are the output elasticities of own R&D capital, R&D capital embodied in purchases of domestic goods and services, and R&D capital embodied in imports respectively; and  $\alpha_0$  represents the rate of pure technical change.

From Equation (1), we can derive the following equation that expresses the labour productivity growth rate of industry i as a function of the growth rate of labour input and investment rates in various types of capital:<sup>9</sup>

$$(2) \left(\frac{\dot{y}}{y}\right)_{i} = \beta_{0} + \beta_{1} \left(\frac{\dot{L}}{L}\right)_{i} + \beta_{2} \left(\frac{\dot{K}_{1}}{Y}\right)_{i} + \beta_{3} \left(\frac{\dot{K}_{2}}{Y}\right)_{i} + \beta_{4} \left(\frac{\dot{R}}{Y}\right)_{i} + \beta_{5} \left(\frac{\dot{S}_{d}}{Y}\right)_{i} + \beta_{6} \left(\frac{\dot{S}_{f}}{Y}\right)_{i} + \varepsilon_{i},$$

where  $(\dot{y}/y)_i$  is the labour productivity growth of industry i;  $(\dot{L}/L)_i$  is the growth rate of the labour input of industry i;  $\dot{K}_{1i}$  is the net investment in IT physical capital;  $\dot{K}_{2i}$  is the net investment in non-IT physical capital;  $\dot{R}_i$  is the net investment in own R&D capital;  $\dot{S}_{di}$  is the net investment in R&D capital embodied in purchases of domestic goods and services;  $\dot{S}_{fi}$  is the net investment in R&D capital embodied in purchases of imports; and  $\varepsilon_i$  is an error term.

In Equation (2), the coefficients  $\beta_2$  through  $\beta_6$  represent the rates of return on various types of capital and spillovers;  $\beta_0$  is the rate of pure technical change; finally,  $\beta_1$  represents the output elasticity of labour input minus one or  $(\alpha_1 - 1)$ .

# Measurement of R&D Spillovers

Here, we discuss the methodology used to construct R&D spillover variables. Following Griliches (1979), we assume that R&D expenditure is a proxy for technology. Here, we also assume that industry transaction flows act as carriers of technology as in Sakurai *et al.* (1996).

The R&D embodied in purchases of domestic goods and services by industry i is calculated as a weighted sum of R&D intensities across all industries, with the weights being the amount of goods and services industry i purchased from other industries. Let  $\dot{R}_j$  denote real R&D expenditures of industry j,  $Y_j$  its output, and  $X_{ji}$  the amount of domestically produced goods and services industry i purchased from industry j. The R&D spillover – R&D embodied in purchases of domestic goods and services ( $\dot{S}_{di}$ ) – can be specified as  $^{10}$ 

(3) 
$$\dot{S}_{di} = \sum_{j} X_{ji} \left(\frac{\dot{R}}{Y}\right)_{j}$$
.

Next, we extend Equation (3) by distinguishing between R&D embodied in purchases of domestic IT goods and non-IT goods and services. For example, R&D embodied in purchases of domestic IT goods by an industry is calculated as a weighted sum of R&D intensities in domestic IT goods-producing industries, where the weights are purchases of domestic IT goods.

Similarly, R&D embodied in imports of industry i,  $\dot{S}_{fi}$  in Equation (2) is calculated as the weighted sum of foreign R&D intensities, where the weights are purchases of imports,

(4) 
$$\dot{S}_{fi} = \sum_{j} \sum_{k} M_{ji} \alpha_{jk} \left(\frac{\dot{R}}{Y}\right)_{jk}$$
,

and  $M_{ji}$  is the total amount of goods (or services) j imported by industry i,  $\alpha_{jk}$  is the import share of country k for goods (or services) j,  $M_{ji}\alpha_{jk}$  is the amount of goods (or services) j industry i imported from country k, and  $(R/Y)_{jk}$  is the R&D investment rate of the industry producing goods (or services) j in country k.

A key assumption underlying our estimation of R&D embodied in purchases of imports is the "import proportionality" assumption. What we observe from the data (OECD's Bilateral Trade Database) is the country's import share of a good by country of origin. This import share is assumed to be the same across all industries. For example, if 80 percent of Canadian computer imports come from the United States, it is assumed that imported computers from the United States account for 80 percent of all computers used in all Canadian industries.

Subsequently, we use Equation (4) to separate out R&D embodied in IT imports and non-IT imports.

In this paper, the sources of international R&D spillovers for Canada are assumed to be other G-7 countries (the United States, Japan, the United Kingdom, Germany, France, and Italy). The G-7 countries account for the bulk of R&D performed in the world and are the most technologically advanced countries.<sup>11</sup>

# 4. THE DATA AND TRENDS<sup>12</sup>

The data used for our empirical analysis are mainly drawn from a number of OECD databases: <sup>13</sup> the International Sectoral Database (ISDB) and the Industrial Structural Analysis (STAN) Database, the Input-Output Database (IOD), the Analytical Database of Business Enterprise R&D (ANBERD) and the Bilateral Trade Database (BTD). First, the Industrial STAN database and the ISDB are used to compute labour productivity for manufacturing and services industries, respectively. Second, input/output tables from the IOD are used to calculate gross IT and non-IT investments. Note that we identify "computers and office machinery" and "communications equipment" as IT (producing) industries and the rest as non-IT industries. Third, intramural R&D expenditures performed by the business sector are obtained from the ANBERD. The IOD together with the ANBERD are used to construct R&D embodied in purchased domestic goods and services. At the same time, imports from the BTD, the IOD and the ANBERD are used to calculate R&D embodied in imported goods and services.

There are, however, two potential problems associated with input/output tables. First, domestic investment flow sub-matrices are available only as gross capital flows and not as net capital flows. Thus, we are limited to using gross IT and non-IT investment data although the net measures would have been preferable. Second, these tables are available only in current prices for the United States. Thus, we were able to carry out our analysis using only nominal investment and R&D data for the United States. <sup>14</sup>

We now turn to an overview of summary statistics and notable trends. We begin with labour productivity.

# **Labour Productivity Growth**

Table 1 presents average annual labour productivity growth by industry for Canada and the United States for the 1971-93 period. Labour productivity of an industry is calculated as the ratio of real value added to total employment where total employment includes the number of employees as well as the self-employed and owner proprietors. There are two notable trends: First, in the United States, both IT producing industries – computers and office machinery and communications equipment – recorded the highest average annual labour productivity growth over the sample period. Second, in Canada, only the office and computing machinery industry experienced the fastest labour productivity growth, while the communications equipment industry lagged behind drugs and medicine; non-ferrous metals; shipbuilding and other transportation equipment industries.

# **IT Investment**

As depicted in Table 2, from 1971 to 1990, the real IT investment rate in Canada<sup>16</sup> rose in twenty three of the twenty six manufacturing and services industries while the real non-IT investment rate increased in only seven industries. The increases from 1971 to 1990 were 300 percent for total manufacturing and 150 percent for total services.

Table 1 Average Annual Labour Productivity Growth for Canada and the United States, 1971-93

ISIC Rev. 2	Canada	United States
1. Food, beverages & tobacco	0.97	1.75
2. Textiles, apparel & leather	2.54	2.88
3. Wood products & furniture	1.00	0.76
4. Paper & printing	0.77	0.31
5. Industrial chemicals <sup>1</sup>	2.65	3.24
6. Drugs and medicine	3.80	
7. Petroleum & coal products	2.44	0.91
8. Rubber & plastic products	1.33	1.32
9. Non-metallic mineral products	1.02	1.54
10. Iron & steel	2.30	1.62
11. Non-ferrous metals	3.92	0.33
12. Metal products	1.10	1.61
13. Non-electrical machinery	0.70	2.65
14. Office & computing machines	18.74	7.78
15. Electric apparatus, nec	2.15	4.11
16. Communication equipment	3.34	5.36
17. Shipbuilding & repairing	5.25	1.29
18. Other transport	4.37	3.32
19. Motor vehicles	2.21	0.44
20. Aircraft	1.82	0.98
21. Professional goods	•••	1.35
22. Other manufacturing <sup>2</sup>	0.53	1.50
Total manufacturing	1.80	1.98
23. Electricity, gas & water	1.68	0.95
24. Wholesale & retail trade <sup>3</sup>	0.66	1.33
25. Transport & communication	3.17	2.72
26. FIRE & business services	0.72	-0.94
27. Social & personal services	-0.35	-0.47
Total services	1.13	0.47
28. Construction	0.47	-1.24
Total business sector <sup>4</sup>	1.24	0.86

- 1 The industrial chemicals industry includes drugs and medicine for the United States.
- 2 Other manufacturing includes professional goods for Canada.
- 3 Includes restaurants and hotels.
- 4 Here, the total business sector is defined to include manufacturing, services and construction industries.

The share of IT investment across industries has increased in the last two decades, as shown in the final column of Table 2. In particular, the share of IT investment in total investment increased by about five percentage points in nine industries over the period 1971-90.

Table 2 Summary Statistics on IT and non-IT Real Gross Investment for Canada, 1971 and 1990

		estment		nvestment		e of IT nent (%)
ISIC Rev. 2	1971	1990	1971	1990	1971	1990
1. Food, beverages & tobacco	0.13	0.81	14.55	11.37	0.91	6.64
2. Textiles, apparel & leather	0.15	0.47	17.61	8.52	0.82	5.26
3. Wood products & furniture	0.11	0.17	23.67	10.43	0.45	1.61
4. Paper & printing	0.26	0.75	38.00	37.08	0.67	1.99
5. Industrial chemicals <sup>1</sup>	0.32	2.08	29.73	24.93	1.06	7.72
6. Drugs and medicine	0.31	0.82	21.44	9.48	1.44	7.96
7. Petroleum & coal products	0.06	2.32	72.56	37.30	0.08	5.86
8. Rubber & plastic products	0.15	1.48	36.33	26.92	0.41	5.19
9. Non-metallic mineral products	0.12	0.83	17.54	18.74	0.67	4.24
10. Iron & steel	0.29	0.42	41.81	26.59	0.68	1.54
11. Non-ferrous metals	0.36	0.95	47.18	58.94	0.76	1.59
12. Metal products	0.19	0.19	15.34	7.11	1.23	2.67
13. Non-electrical machinery	0.16	0.84	8.15	9.49	1.94	8.17
14. Office & computing machines		1.71	159.10	7.11		19.38
15. Electric apparatus, nec	0.27	1.65	16.90	6.97	1.55	19.19
16. Communication equipment	0.15	1.43	12.53	6.04	1.20	19.14
17. Shipbuilding & repairing	1.33	0.30	41.83	9.51	3.08	3.03
18. Other transport	0.53	0.12	20.05	4.67	2.60	2.50
19. Motor vehicles	0.26	0.49	11.55	12.35	2.22	3.81
20. Aircraft	0.23	0.31	6.32	8.80	3.57	3.45
21. Other manufacturing <sup>2</sup>	0.07	0.52	9.11	4.13	0.75	11.22
Total manufacturing	0.20	0.84	23.95	18.28	0.84	4.41
22. Electricity, gas & water	1.45	6.03	124.83	57.96	1.15	9.42
23. Wholesale & retail trade <sup>3</sup>	0.64	1.15	16.12	5.51	3.79	17.26
24. Transport & communication	6.00	7.53	59.50	18.19	9.16	29.27
25. FIRE & business services	0.07	1.11	7.54	8.74	0.89	11.23
26. Social & personal services	0.78	7.48	13.97	24.97	5.28	23.04
Total services	1.25	3.11	26.03	14.07	4.58	18.11
27. Construction	0.03	0.22	9.51	5.53	0.30	3.81
Total business sector <sup>4</sup>	0.80	2.31	23.83	14.37	3.26	13.84

- 1 The industrial chemicals industry includes drugs and medicine for the United States.
- 2 Other manufacturing includes professional goods for Canada.
- 3 Includes restaurants and hotels.
- 4. Here, the total business sector is defined to include manufacturing, services and construction industries.

In the service sector, the increase is more dramatic – from 4.6 percent in 1971 to 18.1 percent in 1990. When we examine the gross investment data in nominal terms, the increasing trends in IT investment become less pronounced (see Table 3). This is so because the investment data in nominal terms do not take into account quality improvements in computers.

Table 3
Summary Statistics on IT and non-IT Nominal Gross Investment for Canada, 1971 and 1990

		estment e (%)		nvestment		e of IT nent (%)
ISIC Rev. 2	1971	1990	1971	1990	1971	1990
1. Food, beverages & tobacco	0.35	0.42	10.51	9.71	3.21	4.11
2. Textiles, apparel & leather	0.25	0.28	7.04	7.64	3.48	3.51
3. Wood products & furniture	0.17	0.12	14.64	10.45	1.16	1.10
4. Paper & print	0.44	0.41	25.75	32.10	1.69	1.25
5. Industrial chemicals <sup>1</sup>	0.54	1.31	16.81	23.88	3.09	5.19
6. Drugs and medicine	0.47	0.55	11.32	9.10	4.00	5.66
7. Petroleum & coal products		2.20	85.69	62.81	•••	3.38
8. Rubber & plastic products	0.19	0.72	17.80	21.38	1.06	3.27
9. Non-metallic mineral products	0.27	0.44	11.40	16.93	2.30	2.56
10. Iron & steel	0.41	0.31	25.19	30.25	1.59	1.01
11. Non-ferrous metals	0.43	0.63	27.50	63.49	1.53	0.98
12. Metal products	0.24	0.12	8.43	6.72	2.73	1.75
13. Non-electrical machinery	0.31	0.45	4.42	7.92	6.56	5.43
14. Office & computing machines		2.07	9.05	13.43		13.38
15. Electric apparatus, nec	0.44	0.84	8.58	5.55	4.84	13.20
16. Communication equipment	0.20	0.87	6.28	5.70	3.03	13.23
17. Shipbuilding & repairing	0.73	0.18	7.28	6.24	9.09	2.86
18. Other transport	0.48	0.13	6.76	5.34	6.67	2.33
19. Motor vehicles	0.41	0.35	5.63	13.66	6.73	2.47
20. Aircraft		0.14	3.72	6.04		2.20
21. Other manufacturing <sup>2</sup>	0.19	0.26	4.61	3.61	4.00	6.73
Total manufacturing	0.34	0.48	13.94	17.33	2.34	2.69
22. Electricity, gas & water	3.00	3.26	84.70	54.30	3.42	5.67
23. Wholesale & retail trade <sup>3</sup>	1.13	0.63	9.37	5.10	10.79	11.02
24. Transport & communication	4.61	7.00	24.17	20.41	16.01	25.54
25. FIRE & business services	0.15	0.56	4.51	8.32	3.25	6.27
26. Social & personal services	1.38	3.88	8.55	21.21	13.92	15.48
Total services	1.54	1.96	14.41	13.30	9.68	12.84
27. Construction	0.05	0.11	4.88	4.58	0.95	2.26
Total business sector <sup>4</sup>	1.03	1.44	13.29	13.45	7.15	9.68

- 1 The industrial chemicals industry includes drugs and medicine for the United States.
- 2 Other manufacturing includes professional goods for Canada.
- 3 Includes restaurants and hotels.
- 4 Here, the total business sector is defined to include manufacturing, services and construction industries.

Table 4 presents nominal IT and non-IT investment rates for the United States. A comparison of Tables 3 and 4 indicates that there are striking similarities between the two countries. In both countries, the bulk of IT investment has taken place in the service sector. In 1990, the service sector accounted for 91 percent of all IT investments in Canada and 83 percent in the United States. This trend is evident for many services such

Table 4
Summary Statistics on IT and non-IT Nominal Gross Investment for the United States, 1972 and 1990

	IT Invo	estment	Non-IT I	nvestment	Share	of IT
	Rate	e (%)	Rate	e (%)	Investm	ent (%)
ISIC Rev. 2	1972	1990	1972	1990	1972	1990
1. Food, beverages & tobacco	0.28	0.55	6.77	7.63	3.91	6.76
2. Textiles, apparel & leather	0.40	0.78	6.37	6.84	5.94	10.18
3. Wood products & furniture	0.21	0.38	6.95	5.65	2.94	6.32
4. Paper & printing	0.85	2.37	7.73	12.28	9.90	16.16
5. Industrial chemicals & drugs <sup>1</sup>	0.69	1.19	8.87	8.07	7.24	12.82
6. Petroleum & coal products	0.99	2.30	12.60	14.22	7.28	13.93
7. Rubber & plastic products	0.21	0.36	8.92	11.67	2.34	3.00
8. Non-metallic mineral products	0.50	0.77	10.32	9.77	4.58	7.27
9. Iron & steel	0.24	0.64	7.61	13.28	3.00	4.59
10. Non-ferrous metals	0.98	1.38	11.09	10.16	8.15	11.98
11. Metal products	0.35	0.70	5.88	6.68	5.69	9.52
12. Non-electrical machinery	0.49	0.85	5.37	6.05	8.44	12.30
13. Office & computing machines	6.43	5.95	5.83	2.88	52.43	67.39
14. Electric apparatus, nec	0.92	2.93	4.58	5.44	16.73	34.98
15. Communication equipment	1.83	5.84	6.32	7.45	22.43	43.92
16. Shipbuilding & repairing	0.52	0.69	6.40	4.20	7.52	14.09
17. Other transport	0.61	1.63	7.51	10.20	7.53	13.77
18. Motor vehicles	0.34	0.67	8.45	13.71	3.83	4.65
19. Aircraft	0.41	1.06	1.99	3.65	17.06	22.49
20. Professional goods	0.48	1.39	3.58	5.42	11.75	20.37
21. Other manufacturing <sup>2</sup>	0.34	0.44	5.57	4.37	5.74	9.21
Total manufacturing	0.57	1.46	6.94	8.09	7.61	15.35
22. Electricity, gas & water	0.47	3.56	15.62	22.09	2.90	13.87
23. Wholesale & retail trade <sup>3</sup>	0.36	1.12	4.40	6.90	7.60	13.98
24. Transport & communication	6.80	6.00	14.24	9.93	32.33	37.68
25. FIRE & business services	0.84	1.82	3.11	2.89	21.29	38.60
26. Social & personal services	0.74	1.81	6.85	5.29	9.71	25.47
Total services	1.39	2.11	6.06	5.95	18.70	26.18
27. Construction	0.09	0.20	10.14	7.75	0.87	2.48
Total business sector <sup>4</sup>	1.06	1.87	6.57	6.51	10.68	22.30

- 1 The industrial chemicals industry includes drugs and medicine for the United States.
- 2 Other manufacturing includes professional goods for Canada.
- 3 Includes restaurants and hotels.
- 4 Here, the total business sector is defined to include manufacturing, services and construction industries.

as communications and transport, finance, insurance, real estate, business services, and community, social and personal services. Contrary to the rising trend of the IT investment rate in the services sector, the non-IT investment rate in both countries declined over the same period.

Several additional points are worth noting. First, the extent of IT investment is much lower in Canada than in the United States, and, the (nominal) IT investment rate in the Canadian manufacturing sector was only 0.5 percent in 1990, compared to 1.5 percent in the U.S. manufacturing sector over this period. Second, this is also true for the services sector – Canada had a nominal IT investment rate of 1.7 percent compared to about 2 percent in the United States. Third, Canada lags behind the United States in terms of IT investment rate in virtually all industries except for the transport and communications industry.

### R&D

We now turn to the R&D variables. As discussed earlier, labour productivity growth in our model depends not only on the direct R&D efforts that industries themselves undertake, but also on R&D acquired from other industries through purchases of domestic and imported goods and services (embodied R&D). Thus, we identify two types of R&D spillover sources: domestic and international. Following the recent OECD study (1996e), we also construct "total technology intensity" indicators at the industry level combining both performed R&D and embodied R&D. The OECD study argued that direct R&D investment rates are an inadequate measure of the technological sophistication of industries. A more appropriate measure should take into account not only the direct R&D investment rates of a particular industry but also the embodied R&D.

# Direct R&D Efforts

In Table 5, we present a measure of the R&D investment rate (R&D expenditure as a percentage of value added) by industry for both Canada and the United States. The data indicate quite clearly that R&D is still overwhelmingly performed in the manufacturing industries. However, services account for an increasing share of total R&D expenditures. <sup>17</sup> Although they are not shown in Table 5, it is worth noting that the two IT-producing industries account for the bulk of R&D performed in both countries. In 1993, they accounted for 26 percent of total intramural R&D expenditures in Canada and 14 percent of total intramural R&D expenditures in the United States. However, the R&D investment rate in the Canadian manufacturing sector is much lower than that in the United States except for textile, apparel and leather, non-ferrous metals, and the communications equipment industries.

# R&D Spillovers - Total Embodied R&D

Tables 6 and 7 show the patterns of R&D diffusion in Canada and the United States. Several familiar messages emerge.

First, the services sector is making the greatest use of embodied technology in both countries. Transportation and communications equipment and community, social and personal services show up as important users of technology. A few manufacturing industries are also top technology users. These include, for Canada, motor vehicles, rubber and plastic products, and iron and steel, and for the United States, textiles, apparel and leather, and iron and steel.

Table 5
R&D Investment Rates For Canada and the United States,
1973-76, and 1990-93

	Canada		United	States
ISIC Rev. 2	1973-76	1990-93	1973-76	1990-93
1. Food, beverages & tobacco	0.52	0.45	0.79	1.13
2. Textiles, apparel & leather	0.25	0.91	0.29	0.56
3. Wood products & furniture	0.11	0.46	0.51	0.53
4. Paper & printing	0.57	0.76	0.76	1.08
5. Industrial chemicals <sup>1</sup>	2.81	2.41	7.81	12.02
6. Drugs and medicine	7.47	11.37		
7. Petroleum & coal products	8.44	9.11	8.58	11.91
8. Rubber & plastic products	0.73	0.68	4.41	2.94
9. Non-metallic mineral products	0.44	0.49	1.94	2.32
10. Iron & steel	0.86	0.72	0.96	0.90
11. Non-ferrous metals	3.73	5.29	2.55	2.75
12. Metal products	0.40	0.98	1.18	1.58
13. Non-electrical machinery	1.38	1.60	2.45	4.02
14. Office & computing machines	8.97	35.47	73.56	44.18
15. Electric apparatus, nec	2.65	2.37	17.93	3.11
16. Communication equipment	14.77	30.01	24.24	22.27
17. Shipbuilding & repairing	0.04	0.00	0.09	0.69
18. Other transport	3.19	0.40	6.48	19.72
19. Motor vehicles	0.53	0.78	10.67	19.98
20. Aircraft	17.11	23.17	45.26	32.29
21. Professional goods			7.71	15.14
22. Other manufacturing <sup>2</sup>	0.51	1.18	3.09	2.26
Total manufacturing	1.70	3.43	6.55	8.40
23. Electricity, gas & water	1.06	1.08		
24. Wholesale & retail trade <sup>3</sup>	0.10	0.26		
25. Transport & communication	0.16	0.47	•••	
26. FIRE & business services	0.28	0.83		
27. Social & personal services	0.00	0.00		•••
Total services	0.17	0.54	0.09	0.69
28. Construction	0.01	0.03		
Total business sector <sup>4</sup>	0.71	1.30	2.14	2.48

- 1 The industrial chemicals industry includes drugs and medicine for the United States.
- 2 Other manufacturing includes professional goods for Canada.
- 3 Includes restaurants and hotels.
- 4 Here, the total business sector is defined to include manufacturing, services and construction industries.

Second, the gap in technological sophistication between industries in Canada and the United States – measured by total technology intensity – appears to be smaller than the direct R&D investment rates in Table 5 would suggest. In fact, the two IT industries in Canada surpassed their counterparts in the United States in total technology intensity

Table 6
Pattern of Technology Diffusion in Canada, 1973-76 and 1990-93

	Total Te		Share of Techn	-	Share of Techno Imp	logy by
ISIC Rev. 2	1973-76	1990-93	1973-76	1990-93	1973-76	1990-93
1. Food, beverages & tobacco	1.75	2.09	70.51	78.68	43.05	49.01
2. Textiles, apparel & leather	1.59	3.59	84.57	74.60	59.70	64.37
3. Wood products & furniture	1.20	2.32	90.64	80.32	59.95	57.24
4. Paper & printing	2.14	3.10	73.41	75.61	45.73	49.14
5. Industrial chemicals	6.76	9.48	58.50	74.60	48.07	60.70
6. Drugs and medicine	10.98	17.33	31.93	34.38	61.63	55.54
7. Petroleum & coal products	13.22	23.53	36.15	61.30	43.25	51.58
8. Rubber & plastic products	4.47	7.16	83.73	90.50	68.76	76.48
9. Non-metallic mineral products	1.96	3.63	77.52	86.42	54.03	68.86
10. Iron & steel	2.93	5.03	70.52	85.74	48.22	54.81
11. Non-ferrous metals	8.10	12.78	53.91	58.59	33.56	46.83
12. Metal products	2.64	4.46	84.75	77.96	40.89	48.03
13. Non-electrical machinery	3.39	4.97	59.24	67.79	63.95	70.38
14. Office & computing machines	68.38	95.10	86.88	62.70	95.95	89.03
15. Electric apparatus, nec	7.00	7.84	62.10	69.73	48.82	57.79
16. Communication equipment	25.10	53.62	41.15	44.02	58.88	69.31
17. Shipbuilding & repairing	4.30	25.56	99.06	99.97	65.92	53.71
18. Other transport	8.81	11.79	63.81	96.57	72.47	91.95
19. Motor vehicles	13.58	30.87	96.12	97.48	91.43	93.74
20. Aircraft	32.02	41.18	46.56	43.73	82.79	69.07
21. Other manufacturing	2.08	5.04	75.61	76.53	67.43	79.00
Total manufacturing	5.48	11.39	68.90	69.86	69.01	74.93
22. Electricity, gas & water	3.79	3.42	71.96	68.38	79.15	68.54
23. Wholesale & retail trade	1.00	1.12	89.88	76.68	70.54	49.31
24. Transport & communication	2.55	5.32	93.87	91.15	49.49	37.42
25. FIRE & business services	0.48	1.34	40.46	38.33	45.68	45.90
26. Social & personal services	1.09	3.30	100.00	100.00	76.74	83.59
Total services	1.26	2.14	82.99	75.00	62.46	54.70
27. Construction	1.74	1.91	99.45	98.29	37.11	34.39
Total business sector <sup>2</sup>	2.59	4.31	75.14	72.73	63.96	65.75

Total technology intensity includes direct R&D, R&D embodied in purchases of domestic goods, and R&D embodied in purchases of imported goods.

for the period 1990-93. This is simply due to the fact that embodied R&D (acquired technology) represents a much larger share of total technology intensity in Canada than in the United States. Over the 1990-93 period, the share of acquired technology was over 72 percent for all industries (excluding primary) in Canada, compared to 59 percent in the United States.

<sup>2</sup> Here, the total business sector is defined to include manufacturing, services and construction industries.

Table 7
Pattern of Technology Diffusion in the United States, 1973-76 and 1990-93

	Total Te	chnology nsity <sup>1</sup>	Share of Techn	Acquired ology	Share of Techno Imp	~
ISIC. Rev. 2	1973-76	1990-93	1973-76	1990-93	1973-76	1990-93
1. Food, beverages & tobacco	2.74	4.11	70.96	72.40	1.77	4.76
2. Textiles, apparel & leather	3.31	5.63	91.33	90.00	3.63	5.45
3. Wood products & furniture	2.00	2.69	74.32	80.34	2.26	6.43
4. Paper & printing	3.05	5.48	75.09	80.22	3.65	7.30
5. Industrial chemicals & drugs	12.79	20.77	38.94	42.14	2.98	6.53
6. Petroleum & coal products	16.13	27.32	46.79	56.41	2.82	6.45
7. Rubber & plastic products	8.86	12.07	50.17	75.65	2.09	5.93
8. Non-metallic mineral products	4.35	6.29	55.36	63.11	2.47	6.70
9. Iron & steel	3.69	6.39	73.97	85.91	7.69	8.57
10. Non-ferrous metals	10.77	12.76	76.33	78.44	10.57	9.48
11. Metal products	3.58	4.61	67.11	65.83	4.20	8.99
12. Non-electrical machinery	6.24	7.91	60.68	49.14	2.55	10.46
13. Office & computing machines	125.08	67.39	41.19	34.44	1.09	14.57
14. Electric apparatus, nec	23.84	9.90	24.78	68.60	2.11	10.87
15. Communication equipment	39.95	36.05	39.33	38.22	2.17	12.24
16. Shipbuilding & repairing	5.14	4.70	98.31	85.25	2.28	9.34
17. Other transport	21.17	46.97	69.42	58.02	3.14	6.48
18. Motor vehicles	22.56	49.36	52.69	59.52	2.58	8.71
19. Aircraft	63.81	52.11	29.07	38.04	3.44	9.99
20 Professional goods	10.71	21.25	27.98	28.76	3.24	11.76
21. Other manufacturing	6.45	5.97	51.99	62.18	4.61	7.64
Total manufacturing	11.93	16.53	45.08	49.13	3.05	8.93
22. Electricity, gas & water	2.61	5.12	96.67	86.45	1.42	6.62
23. Wholesale & retail trade	0.80	2.36	89.19	70.62	1.37	7.25
24. Transport & communication	4.35	4.95	98.00	85.98	3.21	8.13
25. FIRE & business services	0.95	1.91	90.88	63.60	1.63	6.64
26. Social & personal services	2.22	3.49	96.08	80.13	2.48	6.96
Total services	1.59	2.74	94.54	74.66	2.31	7.14
27. Construction	3.85	4.31	97.74	83.91	1.26	6.10
Total business sector <sup>2</sup>	4.81	5.84	58.18	59.17	2.64	8.01

<sup>1</sup> Total technology intensity includes direct R&D, R&D embodied in purchases of domestic goods, and R&D embodied in purchases of imported goods.

Third, imports account for a larger share of technology acquired in Canada than in the United States as a source of acquired technology (R&D embodied in imports), though their importance appears to be growing in both countries. Foreign sources of R&D spillovers are more important than domestic sources in Canada, while domestic sources represent almost all of total acquired technology in the United States. For the more recent period 1990-93, technology embodied in imports accounted for about 66 percent of total acquired technology for Canadian industries, while it accounted for only a negligible 8 percent in U.S. industries.

<sup>2</sup> Here, the total business sector is defined to include manufacturing, services and construction industries.

Fourth, although this is not shown, it is worth noting that Canada relies almost exclusively on the United States for its embodied technology in imports, while the United States acquires embodied technology from a number of other trading partners. For instance, over the 1990-93 period, 86 percent of total imported embodied technology in Canada emanated from the United States. In contrast, Canada accounted for only 16 percent of such R&D spillovers for the United States.

# R&D Diffusion - the IT Sector as a Source of Embodied R&D

In Table 8 and Table 9, we present measures of R&D spillovers received from purchasing capital and intermediate goods from the two industries that produce IT.

Table 8
Pattern of Information Technology Diffusion in Canada, 1973-76 and 1990-93

		Total Acquired	Share of Ac	quired IT by	
		ology	Imports		
ISIC Rev. 2	1973-76	1990-93	1973-76	1990-93	
1. Food, beverages & tobacco	16.06	16.06	83.35	79.88	
2. Textiles, apparel & leather	8.40	12.95	73.30	87.17	
3. Wood products & furniture	7.01	15.50	73.30	77.42	
4. Paper & printing	11.36	14.60	82.55	78.73	
5. Industrial chemicals & drugs	7.10	8.67	81.90	85.62	
6. Drugs & medicine	0.00	13.29		92.48	
7. Petroleum & coal products	0.00	11.62		91.31	
8. Rubber & plastic products	3.33	9.98	100.00	90.25	
9. Non-metallic mineral products	7.83	18.61	73.30	90.31	
10. Iron & steel	12.13	17.73	68.69	74.96	
11. Non-ferrous metals	4.49	10.19	61.33	81.49	
12. Metal products	8.18	12.34	64.37	68.96	
13. Non-electrical machinery	8.40	13.30	68.74	77.31	
14. Office & computing machines	93.14	93.32	96.71	89.08	
15. Electric apparatus, nec	22.62	21.77	65.04	77.29	
16. Communication equipment	83.66	93.28	56.38	68.87	
17. Shipbuilding & repairing	24.29	62.83	27.22	36.45	
18. Other transport	8.52	16.03	85.12	97.91	
19. Motor vehicles	3.93	3.78	60.16	67.60	
20. Aircraft	4.72	3.68	56.69	90.49	
21. Other manufacturing	12.12	37.95	85.12	88.91	
Total manufacturing	4.31	24.89	75.63	76.12	
22. Electricity, gas & water	51.56	49.01	93.77	87.36	
23. Wholesale & retail trade	57.54	28.33	90.92	79.84	
24. Transport & communication	37.87	43.13	35.45	27.10	
25. FIRE & business services	42.72	44.10	88.21	86.44	
26. Social & personal services	62.68	45.23	90.43	85.18	
Total services	48.42	42.09	73.71	62.47	
27. Construction	9.65	14.01	33.90	35.49	
Total business sector <sup>2</sup>	28.04	30.18	72.98	68.55	

<sup>1</sup> Total acquired technology includes R&D embodied in purchases of domestic goods and imported goods.

<sup>2</sup> Here, the total business sector is defined to include manufacturing, services and construction industries.

Table 9
Pattern of Information Technology Diffusion in the United States, 1973-76 and 1990-93

	Share of IT in Techi	Share of IT in Total Acquired Technology <sup>1</sup>		quired IT by orts	
ISIC Rev. 2	1973-76	1990-93	1973-76	1990-93	
1. Food, beverages & tobacco	10.49	6.97	0.93	5.32	
2. Textiles, apparel & leather	9.97	5.62	1.25	6.32	
3. Wood products & furniture	10.96	7.05	0.88	5.82	
4. Paper & printing	26.24	20.11	1.14	5.64	
5. Industrial chemicals & medicine	9.56	5.17	1.03	6.33	
6. Petroleum & coal products	8.87	5.08	0.87	5.39	
7. Rubber & plastic products	3.74	2.09	0.90	7.23	
8. Non-metallic mineral products	14.14	7.00	0.79	5.55	
9. Iron & steel	14.34	6.23	3.06	5.39	
10. Non-ferrous metals	10.39	6.01	5.31	5.60	
11. Metal products	11.07	8.86	1.10	5.50	
12. Non-electrical machinery	11.56	12.88	1.21	7.38	
13. Office & computing machines	93.12	93.60	1.04	14.66	
14. Electric apparatus, nec	13.74	44.69	1.93	12.20	
15. Communication equipment	87.02	82.83	2.04	12.45	
16. Shipbuilding & repairing	26.56	10.08	1.13	6.76	
17. Other transport	4.11	3.99	1.10	6.30	
18. Motor vehicles	5.22	3.60	7.06	22.38	
19. Aircraft	20.49	8.06	1.47	12.02	
20. Professional goods	44.23	53.69	2.22	14.14	
21. Other manufacturing	17.72	19.59	2.44	9.64	
Total manufacturing	26.34	22.23	1.79	12.31	
22. Electricity, gas & water	11.16	23.01	0.99	5.16	
23. Wholesale & retail trade	33.29	22.84	0.83	5.96	
24. Transport & communication	46.50	35.84	2.91	5.96	
25. FIRE & business services	66.12	54.15	1.08	7.03	
26. Social & personal services	23.36	20.41	2.58	11.87	
Total services	40.77	32.66	1.96	7.19	
27. Construction	4.85	4.04	1.05	6.19	
Total business sector <sup>2</sup>	29.54	25.73	1.86	9.46	

<sup>1</sup> Total acquired technology includes R&D embodied in purchases of domestic goods and imported goods.

In the first column of these Tables, we present the share of IT in acquired technology for Canada and the United States. The data indicate quite clearly that the share of IT in total acquired technology is increasing in Canada but declining in the United States. In Canada, this share has risen from 28 percent in the early 1970s to over 30 percent in the early 1990s. In the United States, however, this share has declined from about 30 percent to 26 percent over the same period.

<sup>2</sup> Here, the total business sector is defined to include manufacturing, services and construction industries.

In addition, the tables show two additional trends. First, both in Canada and the United States, service industries receive a much greater share of R&D spillovers from the IT sector than do the manufacturing industries. However, the growth rate of R&D spillovers from the IT sector has been much greater in the Canadian manufacturing industries: they have registered a share gain of twenty percentage points over the last two decades. Second, a greater proportion of the acquired information technology in Canada (about 69 percent) comes through imports, especially from the United States. In contrast, the United States relies mainly on domestic sources for its acquisition of R&D spillovers from the IT sector.

With these data trends in mind, we now proceed to a discussion of results obtained from regression analysis, in which we relate labour productivity growth to IT investment, and measures of technology such as performed R&D and R&D spillovers from IT and non-IT sectors.

#### 5. REGRESSION ANALYSIS

This section discusses the estimated results of Equation (2). Regressions are performed on a pooled cross-section time-series data set consisting of 27 industries and 5 subperiods (1971-75, 1976-79, 1980-85, 1986-89, 1990-93). We regress the annual average labour productivity growth rate of an industry to the IT and non-IT investment rates of each of the five sub-periods (evaluated at the beginning of the period) and the mean values of the R&D and technology diffusion variables over the same time periods. Time dummies for these sub-periods are introduced to allow for period-specific effects on labour productivity growth not attributable to investment and R&D variables.

# **Results for Canada**

Results for the Equation (2) estimation for Canada and the United States are reported in Tables 10 and 11 respectively. We first discuss the empirical results for Canada. The first three columns of Table 10 report the results based on real investment and real R&D expenditures<sup>19</sup> after correcting for R&D double counting,<sup>20</sup> while the last three columns report the results based on nominal investment and nominal R&D data without correcting for R&D double counting. Specification (1), shown in the first column, considers own R&D and physical investments, but does not consider R&D spillovers. Specification (2) corresponds exactly to Equation (2) where embodied R&D variables are decomposed into those embodied in domestic goods and services and in imports. Specification (3) distinguishes R&D spillovers embodied in IT goods and non-IT goods and services for both domestic and international embodied R&D variables. The last three columns of this Table correspond to three specifications mentioned above for nominal investment and R&D data.

We will focus first on the estimated results based on real investment and R&D data. As discussed earlier, the coefficients of real physical investment variables such as IT and non-IT investments, and R&D investment are interpreted as the rate of return on investment. This is based on the assumption that the (average) rate of return on investment is equalized across sectors. Three variables are found to be robustly correlated with labour productivity growth: labour input growth (negative), the IT investment rate (positive), and international R&D spillovers (positive). The estimated coefficients of these variables remain relatively stable and significant in all specifications. The time period dummies for the 1976-80, 1986-89 and 1990-93 periods are statistically significant. The constant term, interpreted as exogenous technical change, is also statistically significant.

The coefficients on the real IT investment rate are statistically significant at the five percent level. The rate of return on IT investments is between 27 and 36 percent per year. Our results are consistent with the findings of two other recent studies that also found positive correlation between productivity growth and IT investment (Siegel and Griliches, 1991; Brynjolfsson and Hitt, 1995). Both studies found that there are high returns on IT investments and that the rates of return on IT capital are higher in services than in the manufacturing sector.

Table 10 Regression Results For Canada, 1971-93

(Dependent Variable: Growth of Labour Productivity, 135 observations)

	Real Investment and R&D Double Counting Corrected			Nominal Investment and R&D Double Counting not Corrected		
Independent Variables	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Constant	0.030	0.027	0.030	0.037	0.030	0.032
	(4.394)	4.398	(4.871)	(5.072)	(5.007)	(5.262)
Growth of labour input	-0.827	-0.741	-0.646	-0.660	-0.716	-0.689
	(6.263)	(6.876)	(5.850)	(3.676)	(5.510)	(5.825)
IT investment rate	0.359	0.357	0.272	0.331	0.364	0.238
	(3.599)	(3.915)	(3.060)	(2.258)	(2.957)	(1.808)
Non-IT investment rate	0.017	0.017	0.008	0.002	0.018	0.017
	(1.481)	(1.516)	(0.739)	(0.131)	(1.598)	(1.582)
R&D investment rate	0.217	0.062	-0.011	0.267	0.079	0.040
	(3.334)	(1.190)	(0.211)	(3.213)	(1.392)	(0.629)
Domestic R&D spillover		-0.034			-0.222	
		(0.251)			(1.805)	
Domestic R&D spillover			-0.066			-0.108
embodied in IT goods			(0.399)			(0.798)
Domestic R&D spillover			0.234			-0.126
embodied in non-IT goods			(0.900)			(0.631)
International R&D spillover		0.236			0.298	
		(4.300)			(4.427)	
International R&D spillover			0.368			0.376
embodied in IT imports			(4.217)			(3.833)
International R&D spillover			0.092			0.098
embodied in non-IT imports			(2.172)			(2.260)
Period 2: 1976-1980	-0.021	-0.021	-0.022	-0.023	-0.021	-0.020
	(2.551)	(2.764)	(2.999)	(2.255)	(2.610)	(2.659)
Period 3: 1981-1985	-0.014	-0.015	-0.013	-0.016	-0.016	-0.012
	(1.461)	(1.831)	(1.635)	(1.410)	(1.927)	(1.458)
Period 4: 1986-1989	-0.018	-0.024	-0.025	-0.028	-0.028	-0.024
	(2.430)	(3.654)	(3.816)	(3.538)	(4.076)	(3.456)
Period 5: 1990-1993	-0.044	-0.047	-0.043	-0.042	-0.046	-0.041
	(4.345)	(4.971)	(4.573)	(3.268)	(4.587)	(4.346)
R <sup>2</sup>	0.55	0.65	0.68	0.39	0.62	0.67
R <sup>2</sup> adjusted	0.52	0.62	0.65	0.35	0.59	0.64

Note: Heteroscedasticity-adjusted t-statistics are shown in parentheses.

The real non-IT investment rate has the expected positive sign, though its coefficients are not statistically different from zero. This is a somewhat surprising result. The insignificant impact of non-IT investments on productivity growth may have resulted from a number of factors. First, non-IT investment goods are highly heterogeneous, and the estimated returns to non-IT investments are a mixture of varying returns to various types of conventional non-IT investment goods. Second, the gross investment data we used in this study may be less appropriate at the theoretical level. Only one component of gross investment, net investment, is considered to increase productivity growth while the other component, replacement investment, is made to maintain existing productivity

Table 11
Regression Results For the United States, 1972-93

(Dependent Variable: Growth of Labour Productivity, 135 observations)

Independent Variables	(1)	(2)	(3)
Constant	0.008	0.007	0.004
	(1.191)	(1.113)	(0.586)
Growth of labour input	-0.421	-0.424	-0.394
	(4.005)	(3.566)	(3.447)
Nominal IT investment rate	0.535	0.553	0.179
	(4.740)	(4.247)	(1.505)
Nominal non-IT investment rate	-0.048	-0.023	0.039
	(0.773)	(0.336)	(0.489)
Nominal R&D investment rate	0.033	0.0622	0.017
	(1.459)	(0.964)	(0.282)
Domestic R&D spillover		-0.051	
_		(0.440)	
Domestic R&D spillover			0.070
embodied in IT goods			(0.800)
Domestic R&D spillover			0.062
embodied in non-IT goods			(0.340)
International R&D spillover		-0.056	
		(0.063)	
International R&D spillover			1.868
embodied in IT imports			(2.643)
International R&D spillover			-1.960
embodied in non-IT imports			(1.221)
Period 2: 1977-1981	-0.015	-0.015	-0.015
	(2.169)	(2.165)	(2.104)
Period 3: 1982-1984	0.023	0.024	0.027
	(3.030)	(3.121)	(3.627)
Period 4: 1985-1989	0.009	0.010	0.015
	(1.532)	(1.580)	(2.523)
Period 5: 1990-1993	0.003	0.003	0.008
	(0.343)	(0.422)	(1.071)
R <sup>2</sup>	0.39	0.39	0.43
R <sup>2</sup> adjusted	0.35	0.34	0.37

Note: Heteroscedasticity-adjusted t-statistics are shown in parentheses.

levels.<sup>22</sup> The measurement error associated with using gross non-IT investment is likely to bias the coefficient toward zero.

Nonetheless, the coefficients of IT investment are statistically different from zero at the 5 percent level even though gross investment data were used. It is equally interesting to observe that real IT investment data only reflect quality improvement in computers (based on hedonic prices for computers) but not in other IT goods such as semi-conductors. <sup>23</sup> As a result, replacement IT investment is improperly deflated and this leads to an under-estimation of net investment. Therefore, it is not certain whether net investment is more appropriate than gross investment for empirical studies.

Canada's own R&D variable is significantly related to productivity growth in specification (1). The estimated rate of return is about 22 percent per year. This is consistent with existing studies, which present rates of return from 10 percent to 50 percent (see for example, Griliches, 1994; Mohnen, 1992). However, once R&D spillovers are introduced as in specification (2), this significant relationship disappears. This may be due mainly to the strength of the correlation between own R&D and domestic R&D spillovers. The correlation of own R&D and domestic spillovers is 0.65 implying a possible multi-collinearity problem between the two variables. Our results suggest that Canadian industries may not benefit from R&D undertaken in other Canadian industries.

We also consider international R&D spillovers along with the own R&D variable and domestic R&D spillovers. The international R&D spillover has a significant impact on productivity growth as shown in specification (2). Indeed, our data show that the share of technology acquired from imports has increased over time and now accounts for almost 75 percent of all technology acquired externally by manufacturing industries. Our results confirm the previous findings that international R&D spillovers have a strong and significant effect on productivity growth (Bernstein, 1996a, and Coe and Helpman, 1995). The estimated rate of return on R&D embodied in imports is about 24 percent per year. A principal conclusion that emerges from this discussion is that R&D spillovers are primarily an international phenomenon for Canada.

In specification (3), we investigate whether international R&D spillovers embodied in IT imports affect labour productivity growth. We do this by introducing R&D spillovers embodied in IT and non-IT imports separately. In this case, the international diffusion of R&D embodied in both IT and non-IT imports is found to have a positive and statistically significant impact on productivity growth. The international diffusion of R&D embodied in IT imports in Canada has a greater impact on productivity growth than that of R&D embodied in non-IT imports: the estimated rate of return on R&D embodied in IT imports is about 37 percent per year, while the rate of return on R&D embodied in non-IT imports is found to be only 9 percent. Clearly, our results indicate that international R&D spillovers from the IT sector played a dominant role in Canada over the past two decades.

The period-specific dummy variables are negative and significant except for 1981-85 in most specifications. This is consistent with the productivity slowdown in Canada since 1973.

Although not reported in this table, we also test the hypothesis as to whether there is any evidence of declining rates of return on IT investments across industries in Canada. In a recent study, Brynjolfsson and Hitt (forthcoming) suggest that the rate of return on investments in information technology will decrease as firms increase their investments – as is generally the case for all types of investments. Using a sample of U.S. firms, they found evidence of declining rates of return on investments in computers over the 1987-89 period. To examine this possibility, we introduce interaction terms between the IT-investment rate and dummy variables for the five sub-periods in specification (3). The joint hypothesis that the coefficients of the interaction terms equal zero is not rejected at

the five percent level. None of the coefficients on the interaction terms between IT investment and period dummies are statistically significant.

Lastly, our empirical model allows us to examine how service industries fared relative to manufacturing industries in terms of labour productivity growth, conditional upon the independent variables used in our model. Are service industries particularly slow in reaping the productivity gains of information technology? To examine this, we introduce a dummy variable for the service industries in specification (3). The results, although not reported in Table 10, indicate that the coefficients on the dummy for service industries are positive but not statistically different from zero. It suggests that the explanatory variables in our model explain almost all the differences in labour productivity growth between services and manufacturing industries.

Next, we estimate all the specifications once again but this time we use *nominal* investment and R&D expenditure data without correcting for R&D double-counting. The idea is to examine the significance of these data measurement issues for our results. The regression results are reported in the last three columns of Table 10. Overall, the results are not significantly different from those reported in the first three columns. It is interesting to observe that, from an empirical point of view, these data measurement issues do not play an important role.

To sum up, the results so far support the following three conclusions:

- First, IT investments are an important source of productivity growth across Canadian industries;
- Second, international R&D spillovers are much more important than domestic R&D spillovers in Canada; and
- Third, international R&D spillovers embodied in IT imports are more important than those embodied in non-IT imports in their contribution to productivity growth.

# **Regression Results for the United States**

Now we estimate Equation (2) using the U.S. data. We would like to reiterate what we stated earlier, namely that the IT and non-IT investment data and the R&D expenditure data for the United States are available only in current prices. Table 11 presents regression results for all three specifications. The U.S. empirical results are somewhat different from those obtained for Canada.

The IT investment effect on labour productivity growth is generally higher but somewhat less robust in the case of the U.S. data, depending on the specification. It is significant in specifications (1) and (2) but not in specification (3). The rate of return on IT investment ranges from 18 percent to 55 percent per year. The direction of the results seems to be consistent with other studies using U.S. data (Brynjolfsson and Hitt, 1995; Lichtenberg, 1993; and Siegel and Griliches, 1991). As for Canada, the non-IT investment rate is found to be insignificant for labour productivity growth in U.S. industries.

The most surprising result is the insignificance of the own R&D variable in all three specifications. This is contrary to a large number of U.S. studies, which found a positive and significant impact of direct R&D on productivity. However, when we use a more conventional empirical specification (not reported in Table 11), which does not distinguish between IT and non-IT investments and excludes R&D spillovers, direct R&D is found to have a positive and statistically significant impact on productivity growth (with a t-ratio of 3.34). The rate of return is estimated to be just over 7 percent per year. This is consistent with the results obtained in most U.S. studies (see, for example, Griliches, 1994).

As in the results obtained for Canada, the domestic R&D spillover effects for the United States are found to be statistically insignificant, as can be seen in specifications (2) and (3).

International R&D spillovers are found to be statistically insignificant for the United States as shown in specification (2). However, when we distinguish between international R&D embodied in IT and non-IT imports as in specification (3), we find a strong and significant effect on productivity growth of international R&D spillovers embodied in IT imports.<sup>24</sup>

#### **Comments on Results**

The empirical results for Canada are more robust and consistent with other empirical studies. The U.S. results are less robust but still indicate that IT investments and R&D spillovers embodied in IT imports are important for productivity growth. Admittedly, the quality of U.S. data in our sample is less satisfactory. First, labour productivity growth for four important U.S. industries may have been under-estimated. The U.S. labour productivity data for the non-electrical machinery, office and computing machinery, electrical apparatus, and communications equipment industries are calculated using the price deflator for the fabricated metals industry and not the price deflator of each of the four industries. This may have resulted in the under-estimation of labour productivity growth in these industries and this may have weakened our U.S. results. Second, the absence of real investment and R&D data is another shortcoming.

Further improvements in the quality of data could have strengthened our empirical results. These include the availability of net, rather than gross, IT and non-IT investment data in real terms, and real investment data reflecting quality improvement in investment goods, especially those related to information technology (not just computers).

#### 6. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Until recently, few empirical studies have focused on the relationship between productivity growth and IT. Potentially the most important issue is whether investments in IT contribute to productivity growth. A second issue is whether domestic and international R&D spillovers from the IT sector are important for productivity growth. In this paper, we have examined these issues for Canada and the United States.

Our major findings are as follows.

- IT investments are an important source of productivity growth across Canadian industries. The private rates of return on IT investments are found to be high on average, about 30 percent per year. The results from the U.S. data are found to be generally consistent with the Canadian results, although somewhat less robust.
- The R&D spillovers in Canada are primarily international in scope. We find that international R&D spillovers from both IT and non-IT sectors contribute significantly to productivity growth across Canadian industries. However, the spillovers from the IT sector are greater than those from the non-IT sector.
- In contrast to the results for Canada, international R&D spillovers, in the aggregate, are found not to be significant in the U.S. data. However, there is some evidence to suggest that international R&D spillovers from the IT sector are significant and much more important than those from the non-IT sector for U.S. industries.

The implications of our findings for the empirical literature are significant. First, IT investment is much more important at margin than non-IT investment in determining productivity growth. Second, the results provide stronger empirical support for the thesis that R&D spillovers in Canada are primarily international in scope. This confirms the findings of earlier studies for Canada such as Bernstein (1996a) and Coe and Helpman (1995). However, the latter study observed that spillovers between countries were larger in small, open economies, and that foreign R&D was at least as important as domestic R&D for small countries in stimulating productivity. Third, international R&D spillovers embodied in IT imports are more important than R&D spillovers embodied in non-IT imports in contributing to productivity growth.

The implications of our findings are also potentially significant for trade and industrial policies, especially R&D policies in small open economies like Canada's. First, the existence of large international spillovers in our data does not suggest that they are substitutes for own R&D. Indeed, it is quite possible that own R&D and R&D spillovers are complementary, meaning that firms must invest in R&D to benefit from other firm's R&D. This is a promising area for further research. Second, as was argued by Bernstein (1996a), any cost-benefit analysis of government R&D policies must take into account R&D spillovers; otherwise, the benefits associated with these policies will be under-estimated. Third, the significance of IT investments and large international R&D spillovers embodied in IT imports for productivity growth in Canada suggest that

industrial policies should increasingly focus on these industries in the new global knowledge-based economy. In this economy, diffusion of IT-related technologies is as important as their creation. Finally, the significance of large international R&D spillovers for the Canadian economy underlines the importance of trade and investment policies that help us capture new ideas and knowledge developed abroad.

#### NOTES

- 1. In most cases information technology includes computer hardware and component manufacturing, computer software development and various computer-related services combined with communications equipment and component manufacturing and telecommunications services.
- 2. There is one related empirical study by De Long and Summers (1991) based on international cross-country data which found that equipment investment has a highly beneficial impact on economic growth, and that the spillovers from equipment investment are very substantial. However, the study does not separate IT from other equipment capital.
- 3. A useful survey of technology diffusion and externalities can be found in Mohnen (1992, 1996) and OECD (1996*e*).
- 4. For recent surveys, see Brynjolfsson (1992); and Morrison and Berndt (1991).
- 5. However, their cross-sectional analysis shows a positive relationship.
- 6. A number of useful surveys exist in the field of R&D and R&D spillovers. See for example, Griliches (1994) and Mairesse and Mohnen (1994).
- 7. Similar to measures of R&D spillovers across firms based on their technological closeness, a commonly used measure of disembodied technology across industries is based on inter-industry patent flows (Scherer, 1982; Evanson and Putman, 1993; and Meijl, 1995). The interindustry patent flows show the proportion of patented inventions originating in one industry but used in other industries. The larger the proportion of patented inventions originating in other industries that an industry uses, the greater the spillover benefits that the industry receives from these other industries.
- 8. If the coefficients  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3$  add up to one, the production function exhibits constant returns to scale with respect to labour and physical capital. In a competitive economy with constant returns-to-scale production, the coefficients  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3$  equal the shares of total income accrued to labour input, IT capital and non-IT capital respectively.
- 9. A detailed derivation of Equation (2) is provided in Appendix A.
- 10. In our estimation of embodied R&D, we do not distinguish between R&D embodied in purchases of capital goods from that in intermediate goods, as in OECD study (1996*e*), given that the focus of this paper is on R&D embodied in IT goods rather than the different roles played by capital and intermediate goods in diffusing R&D.
- 11. It should be noted that the recent OECD study on technology diffusion (OECD 1996e) treats domestic diffusion differently from international diffusion. To estimate domestic technology diffusion, the OECD used a modified version of the Leontief inverse rather than the direct input-output flows used in this paper to measure second-round R&D gains. Admittedly, these second-round R&D gains are

32 Notes

important in the process of embodied technology diffusion. However, this methodology has shortcomings as well: First, the domestic and international diffusion of technology does not receive a uniform treatment since the OECD's measure of international diffusion does not capture these second-round gains whereas its measure of domestic diffusion effects does. This presents a difficulty in comparisons of domestic and international technology diffusion. Second, the Leontief inverse tends to magnify the measurement problem inherent in input-output matrices.

- 12. See Appendix B for a detailed description of the data used.
- 13. Statistics Canada data are used to adjust OECD data to avoid R&D double counting and convert nominal investment and R&D data to real investment and R&D data. A detailed discussion is provided in the next section.
- 14. Fortunately, they are available both in constant and current prices for Canada. Although Jankowski (1993) calculates R&D price deflators for 12 U.S. industries for the 1969-88 period, his industrial classification is significantly different from ours. In addition, input/output tables are available only in current prices for the United States.
- 15. For the United States, nominal value-added data for non-electrical machinery, office & computing machinery, electrical equipment and communications equipment are deflated by the price deflator of fabricated metals to convert them into real terms. However, real value-added data for these industries for Canada were obtained from Statistics Canada.
- 16. It is computed as the ratio of real IT investment to real value added.
- 17. A recent OECD study (1996*e*) suggested that the increasing share of services in total business R&D can be traced to three different factors. First, R&D has always existed in services (commercial R&D firms, design and engineering firms etc.) and may have increased in recent years. Second, new areas, such as multimedia, publications on CD-ROM rather than paper etc. are increasingly engaged in research activities. Third, certain activities formerly carried out by manufacturing are now assigned to services sector "spin-off" firms, e.g. software firms.
- 18. For the United States, the five sub-periods are slightly different from those for Canada: 1972-76, 1977-81, 1982-84, 1985-89, and 1990-93.
- 19. R&D deflators from Rose (1996) and Dagenais, Mohnen and Therrien (1996) are used. The R&D embodied in imported goods is computed using ratios of nominal R&D expenditures to nominal value added in foreign industries since we do not have real R&D data for these foreign industries.
- 20. The costs associated with R&D are, in fact, embedded in the costs of the traditional factors of production. For example, the labour input includes the costs of R&D personnel while capital input includes laboratories and machinery used for R&D. We are able to correct this double-counting problem by separating total R&D expenditures into labour costs, material costs, and capital expenditures using the R&D component ratios in Statscan Catalogue no. 88-202. We also correct this

Notes 33

- problem in the IT and non-IT investment data. As it turns out, this adjustment is negligible across most industries except for the two IT-producing sectors.
- 21. The null hypothesis that there is no heteroscedasticity is rejected in all regressions. Therefore, we only report heteroscedasticity-adjusted *t* statistics.
- 22. In fact, when we estimate the impact of aggregate (the sum of IT and non-IT investments) net investment and aggregate replacement investment separately on productivity growth using a specification similar to Equation (2), the net investment rate is found to have a strong positive impact on productivity growth, while the replacement investment rate is not significant.
- 23. See Lowe (1996).
- 24. As in the results for Canada, we found no evidence of decreasing returns to IT investments. Although we do not report the results in Table 11, when we introduce interaction terms between the IT investment rate and the period dummies, none of the coefficients on the interaction terms between IT investment and period dummies are statistically significant.

# APPENDIX A: EMPIRICAL MODEL RELATING PRODUCTIVITY TO INVESTMENT AND TECHNOLOGY

Assume that the production of industry i can be characterized by the following Cobb-Douglas function,

(A1) 
$$Y_i = L_i^{\alpha_1} K_{1i}^{\alpha_2} K_{2i}^{\alpha_3} R_i^{\alpha_4} S_{di}^{\alpha_5} S_{fi}^{\alpha_6} e^{\alpha_0 t}$$
.

The above production function expresses the output  $(Y_i)$  of industry i as a function of its labour input  $L_i$ ; IT physical capital  $K_{1i}$ ; non-IT physical capital  $K_{2i}$ ; own R&D capital  $R_i$ ; R&D capital embodied in purchases of domestic goods and services  $S_{di}$ ; and R&D capital embodied in imported goods  $S_{fi}$ . The parameters  $\alpha_1 - \alpha_6$  are output elasticities.

Taking the logarithms of Equation (A1) and then taking the first order derivatives with respect to time t, we have a standard output growth equation,

(A2) 
$$\frac{\dot{Y}_i}{Y_i} = \alpha_1 \frac{\dot{L}_i}{L_i} + \alpha_2 \frac{\dot{K}_{1i}}{K_{1i}} + \alpha_3 \frac{\dot{K}_{2i}}{K_{2i}} + \alpha_4 \frac{\dot{R}_i}{R_i} + \alpha_5 \frac{\dot{S}_{di}}{S_{2i}} + \alpha_6 \frac{\dot{S}_{fi}}{S_{2i}} + \alpha_0$$

where the dots denote the first derivatives with respect to time.

Equation (A2) shows the rate of growth of output as the sum of the rate of pure technical change and a weighted sum of rates of growth of labour, IT capital, non-IT capital, R&D capital, R&D capital embodied in purchases of domestic goods and services, and R&D capital embodied in imports.

Subtracting the growth rate of labour input  $\dot{L}_i/L_i$  from both sides of Equation (A2) yields the following equation for the labour productivity growth rate of industry i:

(A3) 
$$\frac{\dot{y}_{i}}{y_{i}} = -(1 - \alpha_{1}) \frac{\dot{L}_{i}}{L_{i}} + \alpha_{2} \frac{\dot{K}_{1i}}{K_{1i}} + \alpha_{3} \frac{\dot{K}_{2i}}{K_{2i}} + \alpha_{4} \frac{\dot{R}_{i}}{R_{i}} + \alpha_{5} \frac{\dot{S}_{di}}{S_{di}} + \alpha_{6} \frac{\dot{S}_{fi}}{S_{fi}} + \alpha_{0},$$

where  $y_i = Y_i / L_i$ , the labour productivity of industry i.

Using the definition for output elasticities  $\alpha_2, \alpha_3, \alpha_4, \alpha_5$ , (for example,  $\alpha_3$ , the output elasticity with respect to non-IT capital, equals  $\partial Y_i/\partial K_{2i} \cdot K_{2i}/Y_i$ ), Equation (A4) can be rewritten as:

$$(A4) \quad \frac{\dot{y}_i}{y_i} = -(1 - \alpha_1) \frac{\dot{L}_i}{L_i} + \frac{\partial Y_i}{\partial K_{1i}} \frac{\dot{K}_{1i}}{Y_i} + \frac{\partial Y_i}{\partial K_{2i}} \frac{\dot{K}_{2i}}{Y_i} + \frac{\partial Y_i}{\partial R_i} \frac{\dot{R}_i}{Y_i} + \frac{\partial Y_i}{\partial S_{di}} \frac{\dot{S}_{di}}{Y_i} + \frac{\partial Y_i}{\partial S_{fi}} \frac{\dot{S}_{fi}}{Y_i} + \alpha_0$$

Letting  $\beta_1 = -(1 - \alpha_1)$ ,  $\beta_2 = \frac{\partial Y_i}{\partial K_{1i}}$ ,  $\beta_3 = \frac{\partial Y_i}{\partial K_{2i}}$ ,  $\beta_4 = \frac{\partial Y_i}{\partial R_i}$ ,  $\beta_5 = \frac{\partial Y_i}{\partial S_{di}}$ ,  $\beta_6 = \frac{\partial Y_i}{\partial S_{fi}}$ , and  $\beta_0 = \alpha_0$  and adding an error term  $\varepsilon_i$ , we obtain Equation (2) in the main text.

### APPENDIX B: DATA SOURCES AND DEFINITIONS

Variable	Description	Sources
	Value added in 1985 prices  – for manufacturing industries  – for service industries	OECD Structural Analysis Industrial (STAN) Database <sup>1</sup> OECD International Sectoral Database (ISDB) <sup>2</sup>
$L_i$	Employment, number of employees plus self-employed  – for manufacturing industries  – for service industries	OECD STAN Database OECD ISDB
Ė₁i	IT investment, domestically sourced and imported investment goods flows from office & computing machines and radio, TV & communications equipment	OECD Input-Output Database (IOD) <sup>3</sup> domestically sourced and imported investment goods flows submatrices
$\dot{K}_{2i}$	Non-IT investment, domestically sourced and imported investment goods flows from all other industries excluding those from office & computing machines and radio, TV & comm. equipment	OECD IOD domestically sourced and imported investment goods flows submatrices
$\dot{R}_i$	R&D expenditures	OECD Analytical Database for Business Enterprise R&D (ANBERD) <sup>4</sup>
$X_{ji}$	the amount of domestic intermediate and investment goods flows from $j$ to $i$	OECD IOD domestic intermediate goods flows and domestically sourced investment goods flows submatrices
$\alpha_{jk}$	country k's imports of good j /total imports of good j	OECD Bilateral Trade Database (BTD) <sup>5</sup>
$M_{ji}$	Total imports of good j by industry i	OECD IOD imported intermediate goods and imported investment goods submatrices <sup>6</sup>

<sup>1</sup> This database provides the most complete internationally comparable OECD data on industrial activity (employment, exchange rate, purchasing power parity rate, exports, imports, gross fixed capital

38 Appendix B

formation, labour compensation, production, value added). It was created to fill the gap that exists between detailed data collected through industrial surveys, which lack international comparability, and national accounts, which are internationally comparable but are only available at fairly aggregated levels. The data cover 49 manufacturing industries for 22 OECD countries.

- 2 The database provides consistent industry data for 14 OECD countries for 2 primary, 13 manufacturing, 2 utility and 7 service industries based on the wealth of industrial and national accounts statistics published by national and international statistical agencies. It contains value-added, employment, gross fixed capital formation, gross capital stock, gross capital stock for machinery and equipment, foreign trade, labour compensation, gross operating surplus, net indirect taxes and total factor productivity index.
- 3 These input-output tables break down inter-industrial transaction flows of goods and services into those that are domestically produced and those that are imported, and into intermediate and capital goods. The tables are available for 10 OECD countries based on the second revision of the International Standard Industrial Classification (ISIC, Rev. 2).
- 4 The database presents current price business enterprise total intramural expenditure on R&D (BERD) for 26 manufacturing industries in 15 OECD countries.
- 5 The database is derived from the OECD's Foreign Trade by Commodities Data System (FTS). Imports and exports are grouped according to the country of origin and the country of destination of the goods. The data have been converted from UN SITC to an ISIC classification scheme that matches STAN, I/O and ANBERD databases.
- 6 All these databases are available from the OECD.

#### **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Auerbach, Alan, J., Kevin A. Hasset, and Stephen D. Oliner, "Reassessing the Social Returns to Equipment Investment," *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 1994, 109: 789-802.
- Baily, Martin N. and Robert J. Gordon, "The Productivity Slowdown, Measurement Issues, and the Explosion of Computer Power," *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, 1988, 19: 347-420.
- Berndt, Ernst R. and Thomas W. Malone, "Information Technology and the Productivity Paradox: Getting the Question Right," *Economics of Innovation and New Technology*, 1995, 3: 177-182.
- Berndt, Ernst R. and Catherine J. Morrison, "High-tech Capital Formation and Economic Performance in U.S. Manufacturing Industries: An Exploratory Analysis," *Journal of Econometrics*, 1995, 65: 9-43.
- Bernstein, Jeffrey, "International R&D Spillovers between Industries in Canada and the United States", *Canadian Journal of Economics Special Issue*, 1996a, 29: S463-S467.
- \_\_\_\_\_\_, "The Canadian Communication Equipment Industry as a Source of R&D Spillovers and Productivity Growth", in Howitt, Peter, ed., *The Implications of Knowledge-Based Growth for Micro-Economic Policies*, University of Calgary Press, 1996b, 391-415.
- Bernstein, Jeffrey and Pierre Mohnen, "International R&D Spillovers between U.S. and Japanese R&D Intensive Sectors," *Journal of International Economics*, Forthcoming.
- Bernstein, Jeffrey and Xiaoyi Yan, "Canadian-Japanese R&D Spillovers and Productivity Growth," *Applied Economic Letters*, 1996: 3, 763-767.
- \_\_\_\_\_, "International R&D Spillovers between Canadian and Japanese Industries," Canadian Journal of Economics, 1997: 276-294.
- Branstetter, Lee, "Are Knowledge Spillovers Intranational or International in Scope? Microeconometric Evidence from the U.S. and Japan," NBER Working Paper No. 5800, 1996.
- Brynjolfsson, Erik, "The Productivity of Information Technology: Review and Assessment," Unpublished Manuscript, MIT, Sloan School of Management, Cambridge, MA., 1992.
- Brynjolfsson, Erik and Lorin Hitt, "Paradox Lost? Firm-level Evidence of the Returns to Information Systems Spending," *Management Science*, Forthcoming.
- \_\_\_\_\_, "Information Technology as a Factor of Production: The Role of Differences among Firms," *Economics of Innovation and New Technology*, 1995, 3: 183-199.
- Coe, David and Elhanan Helpman, "International R&D Spillovers", *European Economic Review*, 1995, 39: 859-87.

40 Bibliography

Coe, David, Elhanan Helpman and Alexander Hoffmaister, "North-South R&D Spillovers", *Economic Journal*, 1997, 107: 134-149.

- David, Paul A., "The Dynamo and Computer: An Historical Perspective on the Modern Productivity Paradox," *American Economic Review*, 1990, 80: 355-361.
- De Long, J. Bradford, and Lawrence H. Summers, "Equipment Investment and Economic Growth," *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 1991, 106: 445-502.
- \_\_\_\_\_\_, "Equipment Investment and Economic Growth: How Long is the Nexus?" Brookings Papers on Economic Activity, 1992, 2: 157-199.
- Dagenais, Marcel, Pierre Mohnen and P. Therrien, "Les firmes canadiennes répondentelles aux incitations fiscales à la recherche-développement?", rapport soumis au Conseil de la science et de la technologie du Québec, octobre 1996.
- Evenson, R. E. and J. Putman, "Inter-sectoral Technology Flows: Estimates from a Patent Concordance with an Application to Italy," Unpublished Paper, Yale University, 1993.
- Griliches, Zvi, "Issues in Assessing the Contribution of Research and Development to Productivity Growth," *The Bell Journal of Economics*, 1979, 10: 92-116.
- \_\_\_\_\_, "R&D and the Productivity Slowdown," *American Economic Review*, 1980, 70: 343-348.
- \_\_\_\_\_, "Productivity Puzzles and R&D: Another Nonexplanation," *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 1988, 2: 9-21.
- \_\_\_\_\_, "Productivity, R&D, and Data Constraint," *American Economic Review*, 1994, 84: 1-23.
- Grossman, Gene M. and Elhanan Helpman, *Innovation and Growth in the Global Economy*, Cambridge MA, MIT Press, 1991.
- Jaffe, Adam, "Technological Opportunity and Spillover of R&D: Evidence from Firms' Patents, Profits, and Market Value," *American Economic Review*, 1986, 76: 984-1001.
- Jankowski, John E., "Do We Need a Price Index for Industrial R&D?" *Research Policy*, 1993, 22: 195-205.
- Lichtenberg, Frank R., "The Output Contributions of Computer Equipment and Personnel: A Firm-level Analysis," NBER Working Paper No. 4540, 1993.
- Loveman, Gary, "An Assessment of the Productivity Impact of Information Technologies, Management in the 90s", in *Information Technology and the Corporation of the 1990s*, Edited by Thomas J Allen and Michael S. Scott Morton, Oxford University Press, 1994.
- Lowe, Robin, "Handling Quality Change in the Canadian National Accounts Price Deflators", in *OECD Proceedings: Industry Productivity, International Comparison and Measurement Issues*, 1996, 143-157.

Bibliography 41

Mairesse, Jacques and Pierre Mohnen, "R&D and Productivity Growth: What Have We Learned from Econometric Studies?" Paper Presented at EUNETIC Conference, Strassbourg, 1994.

- Meijl, H. van, Endogenous Technological Change: The Case of Information Technology, Theoretical Considerations and Empirical Results, University Press, Maastricht, 1995.
- Meijl, H. van and Luc Soete, "IT Spillovers and Productivity Growth: An Empirical Application to France," *OECD Economic Workshops on Information Society*, Workshop No. 1, Toronto, 28-29, June 1995.
- Mohnen, Pierre, "New Technologies and Inter-Industry Spillovers," *STI Review*, No. 7, OECD, Paris, 1989.
- \_\_\_\_\_, The Relationship between R&D and Productivity Growth in Canada and Other Major Industrialized Countries, Minister of Supply and Services Canada, 1992.
- \_\_\_\_\_, "R&D Externalities and Productivity Growth," *STI Review*, No. 18, OECD, Paris, 1996.
- Morrison, Catherine J. and Ernst R. Berndt, "Assessing the Productivity of Information Technology Equipment in U.S. Manufacturing Industries," NBER Working Paper No. 3582, 1991.
- OECD, International Sectoral Database, Paris, 1995.
- \_\_\_\_\_, The OECD Input Output Database, Paris, 1996a.
- \_\_\_\_\_, The OECD STAN Database for Industrial Analysis, Paris, 1996b.
- \_\_\_\_\_, Research and Development Expenditures in Industry, 1973-1993, Paris, 1996c.
- \_\_\_\_\_, Bilateral Trade Database, Paris, 1996d.
- \_\_\_\_\_, Technology and Industrial Performance, Paris, 1996e.
- Oliner, Stephen D. and Daniel E. Sichel, "Computers and Output Growth Revisited: How Big is the Puzzle?" *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, 1994, 2: 273-317.
- Papaconstantinou, George, Sakurai, Norihisa and Andrew Wykoff, "Embodied Technology Diffusion: An Empirical Analysis for 10 OECD Countries" STI Working Papers, 1996/1, OECD, Paris.
- Romer, Paul M., "Increasing Returns and Long-Run Growth," *Journal of Political Economy*, 1986, 94: 1002-37.
- , "Crazy Explanations for the Productivity Slowdown," in *NBER Macroeconomics Annual:* 1987, edited by Stanley Fischer, Cambridge, MA, MIT Press.
- \_\_\_\_\_, "The Origins of Endogenous Growth," *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 1994, 8: 3-22.
- Rose, Antoine, "Un nouvel indice de prix pour la déflation des dépenses de recherche et développement industriels", paper presented at the 8th Annual Congress, Statistics Canada, Ottawa, 1996.

42 Bibliography

Sakurai, Norihisa, Ioannidis, Evangelos and George Papaconstantinou, "The Impact of R&D and of Technology Diffusion on Productivity Growth: Evidence from Ten OECD Countries in the 1970s and 1980s," STI Working Papers, 1996/2, OECD, Paris.

- Scherer, F. M., "Interindustry Technology Flows and Productivity Growth" *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 1982, 64: 627-34.
- Siegel, D. and Z. Griliches, "Purchased Services, Outsourcing, Computers and Productivity in Manufacturing," NBER Working Paper No. 3678, 1991.
- Terleckyj, N., "Direct and Indirect Effects of Industrial Research and Development on the Productivity Growth of Industries," in *New Developments in Productivity Measurement and Analysis*, Edited by J. Kendrick and B. Vaccara, Chicago, University of Chicago Press, 1980.

#### INDUSTRY CANADA RESEARCH PUBLICATIONS

#### INDUSTRY CANADA WORKING PAPER SERIES

- No. 1 Economic Integration in North America: Trends in Foreign Direct Investment and the Top 1,000 Firms, Industry Canada, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis Staff including John Knubley, Marc Legault and P. Someshwar Rao, 1994.
- No. 2 Canadian-Based Multinationals: An Analysis of Activities and Performance, Industry Canada, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis Staff including P. Someshwar Rao, Marc Legault and Ashfaq Ahmad, 1994.
- No. 3 International R&D Spillovers Between Industries in Canada and the United States, Jeffrey I. Bernstein, Carleton University and National Bureau of Economic Research, under contract with Industry Canada, 1994.
- No. 4 **The Economic Impact of Mergers and Acquisitions on Corporations**, Gilles Mcdougall, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis, Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 5 **Steppin' Out: An Analysis of Recent Graduates Into the Labour Market**, Ross Finnie, School of Public Administration, Carleton University and Statistics Canada, 1995.
- No. 6 Measuring the Compliance Cost of Tax Expenditures: The Case of Research and Development Incentives, Sally Gunz, University of Waterloo, Alan Macnaughton, University of Waterloo, and Karen Wensley, Ernst & Young, Toronto, under contract with Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 7 **Governance Structure, Corporate Decision-Making and Firm Performance in North America**, P. Someshwar Rao and Clifton R. Lee-Sing, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis, Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 8 **Foreign Direct Investment and APEC Economic Integration**, Ashfaq Ahmad, P. Someshwar Rao and Colleen Barnes, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis, Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 9 **World Mandate Strategies for Canadian Subsidiaries**, Julian Birkinshaw, Institute of International Business, Stockholm School of Economics, under contract with Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 10 **R&D Productivity Growth in Canadian Communications Equipment and Manufacturing**, Jeffrey I. Bernstein, Carleton University and National Bureau of Economic Research, under contract with Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 11 **Long-run Perspective on Canadian Regional Convergence**, Serge Coulombe, Department of Economics, University of Ottawa, and Frank C. Lee, Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 12 Implications of Technology and Imports on Employment and Wages in Canada, Frank C. Lee, Industry Canada, 1996.

- No. 13 **The Development of Strategic Alliances in Canadian Industries: A Micro Analysis,** Sunder Magun, Applied International Economics, 1996.
- No. 14 **Employment Performance in the Knowledge-Based Economy**, Surendra Gera, Industry Canada, and Philippe Massé, Human Resources Development Canada, 1996.
- No. 15 **The Knowledge-Based Economy: Shifts in Industrial Output**, Surendra Gera, Industry Canada, and Kurt Mang, Department of Finance, 1997.
- No. 16 **Business Strategies of SMEs and Large Firms in Canada**, Gilles Mcdougall and David Swimmer, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis, Industry Canada, 1997.
- No. 17 Impact of China's Trade and Foreign Investment Reforms on the World Economy, Winnie Lam, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis, Industry Canada, 1997.
- No. 18 **Regional Disparities in Canada: Characterization, Trends and Lessons for Economic Policy**, Serge Coulombe, Department of Economics, University of Ottawa, 1997.
- No. 19 Inter-Industry and U.S. R&D Spillovers, Canadian Industrial Production and Productivity Growth, Jeffrey I. Bernstein, Carleton University and National Bureau of Economic Research, under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 20 Information Technology and Labour Productivity Growth: An Empirical Analysis for Canada and the United States, Surendra Gera, Wulong Gu and Frank C. Lee, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis, Industry Canada, 1998.

#### INDUSTRY CANADA DISCUSSION PAPER SERIES

- No. 1 Multinationals as Agents of Change: Setting a New Canadian Policy on Foreign Direct Investment, Lorraine Eden, Carleton University, 1994.
- No. 2 **Technological Change and International Economic Institutions**, Sylvia Ostry, Centre for International Studies, University of Toronto, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 3 **Canadian Corporate Governance: Policy Options**, Ronald. J. Daniels, Faculty of Law, University of Toronto, and Randall Morck, Faculty of Business, University of Alberta, 1996.
- No. 4 Foreign Direct Investment and Market Framework Policies: Reducing Frictions in APEC Policies on Competition and Intellectual Property, Ronald Hirshhorn, 1996.
- No. 5 **Industry Canada's Foreign Investment Research: Messages and Policy Implications**, Ronald Hirshhorn, 1997.

No. 6 International Market Contestability and the New Issues at the World Trade Organization, Edward M. Graham, Institute for International Economics, Washington (DC), under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.

#### INDUSTRY CANADA OCCASIONAL PAPER SERIES

- No. 1 **Formal and Informal Investment Barriers in the G-7 Countries: The Country Chapters**, Industry Canada, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis Staff including Ashfaq Ahmad, Colleen Barnes, John Knubley, Rosemary D. MacDonald and Christopher Wilkie, 1994.
  - Formal and Informal Investment Barriers in the G-7 Countries: Summary and Conclusions, Industry Canada, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis Staff including Ashfaq Ahmad, Colleen Barnes and John Knubley, 1994.
- No. 2 **Business Development Initiatives of Multinational Subsidiaries in Canada**, Julian Birkinshaw, University of Western Ontario, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 3 **The Role of R&D Consortia in Technology Development**, Vinod Kumar, Research Centre for Technology Management, Carleton University, and Sunder Magun, Centre for Trade Policy and Law, University of Ottawa and Carleton University, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 4 **Gender Tracking in University Programs**, Sid Gilbert, University of Guelph, and Alan Pomfret, King's College, University of Western Ontario, 1995.
- No. 5 **Competitiveness: Concepts and Measures**, Donald G. McFetridge, Department of Economics, Carleton University, 1995.
- No. 6 **Institutional Aspects of R&D Tax Incentives: The SR&ED Tax Credit**, G. Bruce Doern, School of Public Administration, Carleton University, 1995.
- No. 7 **Competition Policy as a Dimension of Economic Policy: A Comparative Perspective**, Robert D. Anderson and S. Dev Khosla, Economics and International Affairs Branch, Bureau of Competition Policy, Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 8 Mechanisms and Practices for the Assessment of The Social and Cultural Implications of Science and Technology, Liora Salter, Osgoode Hall Law School, University of Toronto, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 9 Science and Technology: Perspectives for Public Policy, Donald G. McFetridge, Department of Economics, Carleton University, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 10 Endogenous Innovation and Growth: Implications for Canada, Pierre Fortin, Université du Québec à Montréal and the Canadian Institute for Advanced Research, and Elhanan Helpman, Tel Aviv University and the Canadian Institute for Advanced Research, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.

- No. 11 **The University-Industry Relationship in Science and Technology**, Jérôme Doutriaux, University of Ottawa, and Margaret Barker, Meg Barker Consulting, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 12 **Technology and the Economy: A Review of Some Critical Relationships**, Michael Gibbons, University of Sussex, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 13 **Management Skills Development in Canada**, Keith Newton, Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 14 The Human Factor in Firm's Performance: Management Strategies for Productivity and Competitiveness in the Knowledge-Based Economy, Keith Newton, Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 15 **Payroll Taxation and Employment: A Literature Survey**, Joni Baran, Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 16 Sustainable Development: Concepts, Measures, Market and Policy Failures at the Open Economy, Industry and Firm Levels, Philippe Crabbé, Institute for Research on the Environment and Economy, University of Ottawa, 1997.
- No. 17 **Measuring Sustainable Development: A Review of Current Practice,** Peter Hardi, Stephan Barg, and Tony Hodge, International Institute for Sustainable Development, 1997.
- No. 18 Reducing Regulatory Barriers to Trade: Lessons for Canada from the European Experience, Ramesh Chaitoo and Michael Hart, Center for Trade Policy and Law, Carleton University, 1997.
- No. 19 Analysis of International Trade Dispute Settlement Mechanisms and Implications for Canada's Agreement on Internal Trade, E. Wayne Clendenning and Robert J. Clendenning, E. Wayne Clendenning & Associates Inc., under contract with Industry Canada, 1997.

#### JOINT PUBLICATIONS

**Capital Budgeting in the Public Sector**, in collaboration with the John Deutsch Institute, Jack Mintz and Ross S. Preston eds., 1994.

**Infrastructure and Competitiveness**, in collaboration with the John Deutsch Institute, Jack Mintz and Ross S. Preston eds., 1994.

Getting the Green Light: Environmental Regulation and Investment in Canada, in collaboration with the C.D. Howe Institute, Jamie Benidickson, G. Bruce Doern and Nancy Olewiler, 1994.

## To obtain copies of documents published under the RESEARCH PUBLICATIONS PROGRAM, please contact:

Publications Officer Micro-Economic Policy Analysis Industry Canada 5th Floor, West Tower 235 Queen Street Ottawa, Ontario, K1A 0H5

Telephone: (613) 952-5704

Fax: (613) 991-1261

E-Mail: fumerton.cheryl@ic.gc.ca